#### INTERMEDIARY COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

ICA EFiled: Dec 19 2022 04:41PM EST Transaction ID 68674453

## EQUINOR USA ONSHORE PROPERTIES, INC.,

Petitioner Below, Petitioner,

VS.

## MATTHEW IRBY, STATE TAX COMMISSIONER OF WEST VIRGINIA,

Respondent Below, Respondent.

#### **PETITIONER'S BRIEF**

Alexander Macia, Esq. (WV Bar No. 6077)
Paul G. Papadopoulos, Esq. (WV Bar No. 5575)
Chelsea E. Thompson, Esq. (WV Bar No. 12565)
Spilman Thomas & Battle PLLC
300 Kanawha Boulevard, East
Charleston, WV 25301
304-340-3800
amacia@spilmanlaw.com
ppapadopoulos@spilmanlaw.com
cthompson@spilmanlaw.com
Counsel for Petitioner
Equinor USA Onshore Properties, Inc.

## **

### I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The West Virginia Office of Tax Appeals ("WVOTA") erred when it concluded that "[t]he market value of the natural gas in the vicinity of the wellhead, as those terms are used under West Virginia law, is the amount reflected as the "product value" on the settlement sheets introduced in this matter."
- 2. The WVOTA erred by improperly calculating the gross value or gross proceeds of the Petitioner's natural gas and natural gas liquids to be anything other than the "net value" on the settlement sheets introduced in this matter, which is undisputedly the amount of money actually received by Petitioner from the third-party purchaser in exchange for a sale of natural gas.
- 3. The WVOTA erred in finding that fees contractually charged to Petitioner are "expenses" of the Petitioner under West Virginia Code §11-13A-2(b)(5) and West Virginia Code of State Rules §110-13A-2.7 when those fees are actually costs incurred by the third-party purchaser of Petitioner's natural gas.
- 4. The WVOTA erred in finding that Petitioner had deducted its own actual transportation and transmission costs from the gross value of its severed natural gas.
- 5. The WVOTA erred in failing to follow a 2004 WVOTA decision (03-106SV Administrative Decision), which supports the Petitioner's requests for refund, even though that previous WVOTA decision was not appealed by the State and a notice of nonacquiescence was not filed by the Tax Commissioner pursuant to W.Va. Code §11-10-10A.
- 6. The WVOTA erred denying Petitioner's application for the safe harbor which allows for a deduction of "transportation or transmission costs in the amount of 15% of the gross proceeds of the natural gas severed and produced." W. Va. Code R. § 110-13A-4.8.4.

## II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

## A. <u>Factual Background</u>

This case involves the proper calculation of state severance tax imposed upon the natural gas liquids ("NGLs") found within the natural gas that Petitioner extracts within this state. Petitioner is a natural gas producer with operations across the United States, including West Virginia. D.R.0025-26 at ¶¶ 2-5. Through its production of natural gas, Petitioner has added substantial economic value to this state through jobs, infrastructure, and the payment of taxes. For the two tax years at issue, Petitioner has already paid \$8,892,221.56 (2018) and \$8,842,446.46 (2019) in severance taxes and is seeking a refund of overpaid amounts totaling \$1,533,548.37 (2018) and \$1,084,061.59 (2019) that was denied. *See* D.R.0044-45 (tax records showing taxes paid during each year); D.R.0074-75 (Answer of Respondent); D.R.0088-92 (petition for reassessment listing amount in controversy for tax year 2018); D.R.0125-35 (petition for reassessment listing amount in controversy for tax year 2019); D.R.0093 (refund denial letter tax year 2019); D.R.0130 (refund denial letter tax year 2018).

The process of severing and producing natural gas can be complicated, as can the resulting calculation of severance taxes. In its simplest form, Petitioner originally severs natural gas from the ground at what the industry calls the "wellhead." At that time, the natural gas is an impure mix of various natural resources, water, and sediment. D.R.0024 at ¶3. Petitioner uses production equipment it owns, operates, and maintains to transform the impure mix into "raw gas". D.R.0024-25 at ¶3-4. It is only once natural gas becomes "raw gas" that it adheres to applicable pipeline specifications and can be transported to the purchaser's pipeline system. F.D.D.R.0203-04 at § 7.1 (gas quality). <sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup> As explained in the procedural history Section II(B) *infra*, the Order Affirming Tax Commissioner's Refund Denial that is being appealed in this case adopts the conclusions and reasoning of the Final Decision issued in another case,

Petitioner has entered into the Second Amended and Restated Gas Processing Agreement dated December 1, 2013 ("Gas Processing Agreement") and the Natural Gas Liquids Exchange and Purchase Agreement dated March 1, 2011 ("NGL Agreement") with MarkWest Liberty Midstream & Resources LLC ("MarkWest"). See F.D.D.R.0160-82 (NGL Agreement); F.D.D.R.0185-226 (Gas Processing Agreement). Petitioner and MarkWest are two completely separate companies who negotiated these contracts at arms-length. F.D.D.R.0435. According to these contracts, Petitioner delivers the raw gas it extracts in West Virginia to MarkWest at a specified receipt point—the "Plant Inlet" of the processing plant owned, operated, and maintained by MarkWest. F.D.D.R.0196 at ¶ 5.1. Once the raw gas leaves Petitioner's wellsite and reaches the Plant Inlet at MarkWest's processing plant, MarkWest gains title to the raw gas. See D.R.0025 at ¶6; F.D.D.R.0177 at ¶7.4; F.D.D.R.0160-61 at ¶¶1(B) & 4(B); F.D.D.R.0211 at ¶14.2.² From the Plant Inlet onward, MarkWest has exclusive custody, control, and possession of the raw gas. F.D.D.R.0211 at ¶13.2; F.D.D.R.0384; F.D.D.R.0431. It is at this point that a sale of natural gas from Petitioner to MarkWest occurs. D.R.0025 at ¶6; F.D.D.R.0380-81.

At its processing plant, MarkWest breaks down the raw gas into its component parts: "raw make," which are unprocessed NGLs, and "residue gas." D.R.0025 at ¶7; F.D.D.R.0373. The raw make continues on to MarkWest's fractionation plant to be fractionated into individual NGLs. D.R.0025 at ¶9. Throughout processing and fractionation, MarkWest maintains title, custody,

which is currently pending before this court as Civil Action No. 22-ICA-111. However, the transcript and exhibits from the evidentiary hearing that led to the Final Decision are not part of the designated record in <u>this</u> case. Accordingly, it is necessary for Petitioner to cite to the transcript and exhibits in the designated record for Civil Action No. 22-ICA-111 so the Court may fully and meaningfully assess the facts or parties' legal argument. Accordingly, hereinafter, citations to the designated record for Civil Action No. 22-ICA-111 will be cited as "F.D.D.R." as an abbreviation for "Final Decision Designated Record." Citations to the designated record in this case remain "D.R." in accordance with the Order entered November 29, 2022.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Full citations and explanation of these title provisions is provided in Section E(ii) *infra*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The tax treatment of any residue gas is not at issue in this matter. F.D.D.R.0429. Only the tax treatment for NGLs is at issue. To the extent the Final Decision relied upon findings of fact or conclusions of law related to residue gas, it erred. *See* Footnote 13 *infra*.

control, and possession of the raw make and the resulting NGLs. F.D.D.R.0177 at ¶7.1. All facilities used in processing and fractionation are exclusively owned and operated by MarkWest. D.R.0025 at ¶¶5, 7 & 9; F.D.D.R.0259-60; F.D.D.R.0438-39. Once fractionation is complete, MarkWest then sells the NGLs to third parties. D.R.0025 at ¶9; F.D.D.R.0371-72. MarkWest transports the NGLs from its plants to the final consumer through pipelines owned by MarkWest or third parties. F.D.D.R.00259-60; F.D.D.R.0370-72; F.D.D.R.0381-83. MarkWest determines who to sell the NGLs to and what price to sell the NGLs for—Petitioner has no role in that process. F.D.D.R.0432.

Each month, MarkWest authors a settlement statement listing the amount of component NGLs it processed from the raw gas it purchased at the Plant Inlet from Petitioner. D.R.0025 at ¶¶10-11. The settlement statements contain three key financial components: product value, fees, and net value. *See, e.g.*, F.D.D.R.0231-37. These represent:

- Per the NGL Agreement, the "product value" is the "weighted average sales price per gallon that MarkWest receives for" each NGL that MarkWest sells to third parties during the calendar month at MarkWest's fractionation plant. F.D.D.R.00162-63 at ¶ 5(C)(i); see also F.D.D.R.0372-75 (testimony that product value is what money MarkWest receives for sale of individual NGLs to third parties).
- The "fees" are the various transportation, marketing, and processing fees that MarkWest incurred in processing the raw gas into raw make and residue gas, and further fractionating the raw make into individual NGLs. See F.D.D.R.00162-63 at ¶¶5(A) & 5(C). MarkWest negotiated in the Gas Processing Contract and NGL Agreement for these specific fees to be deducted from the product value in calculating payment to Petitioner. F.D.D.R.0162-63 at ¶ 5(C)(i); see also F.D.D.R.0372-75 (testimony on contractual fees); F.D.D.R.0439 (testimony that contract's fees are typical in this industry).
- The "net sales price" on the settlement statement is the sales price that MarkWest pays to Petitioner as described in the NGL Agreement. F.D.D.R.00162-63 at ¶5(C)(i). In determining the net sales price, MarkWest shall include and deduct all associated third-party costs including all third-party transportation, tank car rentals, taxes (excluding income taxes), offsite storage, and similar marketing costs and expenses incurred by MarkWest to determine a net price freight on board (FOB) the Fractionation Plant. *Id.* MarkWest will identify in reasonable detail all of the types of costs incurred, and the

aggregate amount thereof, to determine the Net Sales Price on Producer's statement each month. F.D.D.R.00162-67 at ¶ 5(A)(i). It is undisputed that the net value is the amount MarkWest actually pays to Equinor for sale of the NGLs. D.R.0026 at ¶14; see also F.D.D.R.0139-41 (letter regarding banking and tax reporting); F.D.D.R.0436-40 (testimony regarding payment and verification of payment from MarkWest to Petitioner).

Petitioner uses the "net value" on the settlement statements when preparing both its state severance tax forms and federal income tax forms. F.D.D.R.0139-40.

## B. <u>Procedural Background</u>

This case arises from the calculation of severance taxes. Petitioner determined that it had overpaid in severance taxes and petitioned the State Tax Commissioner ("Respondent") for a refund for tax years 2018 and 2019. D.R.0093; D.R.0130. The Respondent responded by issuing a Tax Refund Decrease Letter to Petitioner for the tax years 2018 and 2019, in which it denied "the marketing, demand fees and administrative fees on the actual transportation allowance." D.R.0093 (2019 tax year); D.R.0130 (2018 tax year). Additionally, it denied the 15% safe harbor because it asserted that Equinor was "claiming actual transportation expenses. D.R.0093; D.R.0130. By incorrectly classifying the purchaser's fees as Petitioner's actual transportation and transmission cost and adding the fees expensed by MarkWest to the gross proceeds actually received by Petitioner for the sale of its commodities, Respondent effectively and incorrectly inflated the gross proceeds of the sale over and above what was actually realized by the Petitioner. Petitioner appealed the denial letter to WVOTA, arguing Respondent's calculation of severance taxes did not comply with the applicable statutes. D.R.0088-92 (petition for reassessment tax year 2019); D.R.0125-35 (petitioner for reassessment tax year 2018).

At or around the same time, the Respondent issued similar Tax Refund Decrease Letters to Petitioner using the same calculation of severance taxes for tax years 2014, 2015, and 2016. Thus, WVOTA assigned the following case numbers: No. 19-008 (tax year 2014), No. 20-111 (2015),

No. 19-064 (2016), No. 20-222 (2018) and No. 22-023 (2019). Two cases (No. 20-222 and No. 22-023) are the basis of this appeal.<sup>4</sup> WVOTA, however, recognized that all of the cases pending before it shared the same facts and presented the same legal questions, but were simply for different tax years. *See*, *e.g.*, D.R.0081-84; D.R.0122-23; D.R.0039-41.

While all of these cases were pending at WVOTA, the parties and WVOTA agreed that two cases would proceed as "test cases," specifically Case No. 19-008 for tax year 2014 and Case No. 19-064 for tax year 2016. After an evidentiary hearing on April 28, 2021, WVOTA issued a "Final Decision" in Case Nos. 19-008 and 19-064 on August 18, 2022 affirming the Respondent's denial of refund. D.R.0023-38. In particular, WVOTA concluded that the "market value of natural gas in the vicinity of the wellhead, as those terms are defined under West Virginia law, is the amount reflected as the product value on the settlement sheets introduced in this matter." D.R.0037 at ¶8. Further, WVOTA concluded that "the fees contractually charged to the Petitioner [in settlement statements] are "expenses" of the Petitioner." D.R.0037 at ¶9. Overall, WVOTA upheld Respondent's valuation of the severance tax in all respects including the reduction of Petitioner's refund.

Given the similarities of the cases, all parties and WVOTA agreed that these two cases would also be bound by the Final Decision. *See, e.g.*, D.R.0066 (letter from Judge Pollock dated Sept. 7, 2022 stating that this case for Case No. 20-222 and Case No. 22-023 would resolve by "adopting the reasoning in the Final Decision issued in Docket Nos. 19-008 and 19-064."). Accordingly, on October 7, 2022, WVOTA issued in Case No. 20-222 and Case No. 22-023 an "Order Affirming Tax Commissioner's Refund Denial," which upheld the Respondent's calculation of severance tax and denial of refund, and memorialized the parties' agreement to be

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Petitioner similarly appealed the other WVOTA decisions to this Court, which have designated them Case No. 22-ICA-111 (tax years 2014 and 2016) and Case No. 22-ICA-225 (tax year 2015).

bound in this case by the Final Decision issued in Case Nos. 19-008 and 19-064. *See* D.R.0039-41. Petitioner timely appealed the "Order Affirming Tax Commissioner's Refund Denial." D.R.0006-22.

## III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This case presents three interrelated issues: (1) whether, under the severance tax code, the "product value" or "net value" on the settlement sheets is the proper "gross value" or "gross proceeds" basis for calculating Petitioner's severance tax; (2) whether the fees subtracted from the "product value" by MarkWest on the settlement statements are the Petitioner's actual transportation and transmission expenses as defined by W.Va. Code. R. §110-13A-4.8.1; and (3) whether Petitioner is entitled to the 15% safe harbor deduction for transportation and transmission fees. Faced with these issues, WVOTA issued a decision that failed to adhere to the unambiguous, plain meaning of the applicable severance tax statutes or meaningfully engage with an on-point prior decision.

The statutes and legislative rules clearly state that the severance tax is computed as 5% of the "gross value" of natural gas "at the well head immediately preceding transportation and transmission," and that the "gross value" is equal to the "gross proceeds." W.Va. Code § 11-13A-3a(b) (imposition of tax). Gross proceeds mean "the value, whether in money or other property, actually proceeding from the sale." W.Va. Code. §11-13A-2(b)(5) (statutory definition of "gross proceeds"); see also W.Va. Code R. §110-13A-2a.10.1 (gross value of natural gas specifically). Simply stated, the tax is equal to 5% of the money a producer actually makes from selling natural gas. WVOTA's decision, however, ignores the undisputed fact that the only money Petitioner actually received from the sale of NGLs to MarkWest is listed as the "net value" on the settlement statements. D.R.0026 at ¶14. Instead, WVOTA found that gross proceeds were actually the higher

"product value" listed on settlement statements, even though the contracts clarify that the "product value" is the value that MarkWest receives when it sells the individual NGLs to third parties. D.R.0037 at ¶8. The WVOTA decision therefore erred by improperly moving the calculation both temporally and geographically away from the Petitioner's wellhead and to the end of MarkWest's processing plants, thereby inflating the value of the NGLs beyond their statutorily mandated wellhead value and therefore, also inflating the resulting severance tax numbers.

WVOTA also erred when it held that the fees listed on the settlement statement were expenses attributable to Petitioner, and not MarkWest, despite those expenses (a) being contractually recognized as belonging to MarkWest, (b) occurring exclusively in plants and pipelines owed by MarkWest, and (c) happening after Petitioner has relinquished title, possession, custody, and control of the raw gas to MarkWest. In reaching this decision, WVOTA failed to apply the plain meaning of the applicable state rule, namely West Virginia Code of State Rules \$110-13A-4.8.1, and neglected to follow a prior WVOTA decision issued February 5, 2004 that is directly on point, claiming it was not persuasive simply because it was decided "many years" before and on stipulated facts. D.R.0035-36.

Finally, WVOTA upheld the Respondent's position that Petitioner had already deducted its "actual transportation and transmission costs" by virtue of the fees on the settlement statement and could not also receive the 15% safe harbor for transportation and transmission costs. D.R.0036-38; *see also* W.Va. Code. R. §110-13A-4.8.1. Given that its conclusion is predicated on the incorrect legal conclusions that the fees in the settlement statement were Petitioner's expenses incurred in its system, WVOTA erred in affirming denial of the safe harbor.

## IV. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Pursuant to Rule 18(a)(4) of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure, Petitioner

respectfully requests that this Court grant oral argument, as it believes the decision-making process in this case would be significantly aided by oral argument. Rule 19(a)(1) of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure states that a case is suitable for Rule 19 oral argument if it involves "assignments of error in the application of settled law . . . ." Here, all of the assignments of error have to do with the application of well-settled severance tax law in West Virginia.

Furthermore, Petitioner respectfully requests entry of a decision through a signed opinion. Because Petitioner is seeking a reversal of the administrative judge's decision, this case is not appropriate for a memorandum decision, which is only permitted in limited circumstances as set forth in Rule 21(d) of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure.

## V. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

Petitioner supports its appeal with the following legal argument, all of which leads to a single conclusion: WVOTA erred in reaching the Final Decision and Order Affirming Tax Commissioner's Refund Denial, and they must be reversed.

#### A. Jurisdiction

This Court has jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to West Virginia Code § 51-11-4(b)(4) as Petitioner is appealing a final judgment, order, and decision of an agency or an administrative law judge entered after June 30, 2022.

## B. Standard of Review

On appeal of a decision of the WVOTA to this Court, findings of fact by the administrative law judge are accorded deference, unless the reviewing court concludes the findings to be clearly wrong and, although administrative interpretation of state tax provisions will be afforded sound discretion, questions of law are reviewed *de novo*. *Antero Res. Corp. v. Steager*, 244 W. Va. 81,

84, 851 S.E.2d 527, 530 (2020) (citing Syl. Pt. 1, *Griffith v. Conagra Brands Inc.*, 229 W.Va. 190, 728 S.E.2d 74 (2012)).

Furthermore, this Court "shall reverse, vacate or modify the order or decision of the agency" if "the substantial rights of the petitioner or petitioners have been prejudiced because the administrative findings, inferences, conclusions decision or order" are:

- (1) In violation of constitutional or statutory provisions; or
- (2) In excess of the statutory authority or jurisdiction of the agency; or
- (3) Made upon unlawful procedures; or
- (4) Affected by other error of law; or
- (5) Clearly wrong in view of the reliable, probative and substantial evidence on the whole record; or
- (6) Arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion.

W.Va. Code § 29A-5-4(g).

## C. Operation and Language Of The Applicable Severance Tax Code

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