IN THE INTERMEDIATE COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

	110. 22-1CA-220	ICA EFiled: Feb 02 2023 05:12PM EST Transaction ID 69063499
EQUI	OR USA ONSHORE PROPERTIES, INC.,	
	Petitioner Below, Petitioner,	
v.		
MATTI	EW IRBY, STATE TAX COMMISSIONER OF WEST VIRGINIA,	
	Respondent Below, Respondent,	
		-
	RESPONDENT'S BRIEF	

PATRICK MORRISEY ATTORNEY GENERAL

Sean M. Whelan (WVSB # 12067)

Deputy Attorney General

William C. Ballard (WVSB # 9557)

Lauren D. Mahaney (WVSB # 13900)

Kevin C. Kidd, (WVSB # 13642)

Assistant Attorneys General

State Capitol Complex

Building 1, Room W-435

Charleston, West Virginia 25305

Email: Sean.M.Whelan@wvago.gov

William.C.Ballard@wvago.gov

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This Court should affirm OTA on the merits because it properly calculated Equinor's severance tax liability. OTA properly determined that the product value reflected on Equinor's

settlement statements reflected its gross value for the purpose of calculating severance tax liability. It correctly held that StatOil's product value, rather than net value, was to be used when calculating severance tax because the price of the product is determined at the point when it becomes marketable and is commercially sold. Additionally, the disputed fees reflected in the product value are post production processing fees which are to be included in the calculation of the gross value up until the product is marketable and "where production ends." W. Va. Code § 11-13A-2(c)(6); W. Va. Code R. § 110-13A-2.7. StatOil's assignments of error one, two, and three are contrary to applicable statutes and rules and so, should be rejected.

As should Equinor's assignments of error four and six. OTA correctly found that the expenses Equinor paid to MarkWest were the producer's expenses. The relevant statute and the rule provide for several alternative methods by which a producer of natural gas may receive an expense deduction from severance tax. Two of these allow a taxpayer to take a fifteen percent safe harbor deduction or take a deduction for actual transportation and transmission expenses incurred. A taxpayer may not take more than one deduction. Here, OTA determined that Equinor was not entitled to a fifteen percent safe harbor deduction because it previously received a deduction for actual transportation and transmission costs reflected in the product value found on the settlement sheets. The contract and state law support OTA's finding and are clear that Equinor was only entitled to one of these deductions. OTA's decision to give it the larger of the two options was not in error. Finally, OTA did not err by not following a 2004 OTA decision. Equinor agrees that the prior decision has no precedential weight (especially before this Court), and it is distinguishable on its facts anyway. Equinor's assignment of error five should be rejected too.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT

The Tax Commissioner requests Rule 20 oral argument because this appeal presents issues of first impression and fundamental importance regarding the methodology for calculating severance tax liability. See W. Va. R. App. P. 20(a)(1), (2).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

A final decision from OTA should be reviewed under the standards set forth in the Administrative Procedures Act, W. Va. Code § 29A-5-4g (1988). See Syl. pt. 1, Griffith v. ConAgra Brands, Inc., 229 W. Va. 190, 191, 728 S.E.2d 74, 75 (2012). Its findings of fact "will not be set aside or vacated unless clearly wrong." Id. While "questions of law" are review "de novo," its "interpretation of State tax provisions" should be "be afforded sound consideration," id. and "given great weight unless clearly erroneous." Syl. pt. 2, Keener v. Irby, 245 W. Va. 777, --, 865 S.E.2d 519, 520 (2021).

ARGUMENT

OTA properly determined that the "product value" listed on the settlement statements reflects Equinor's "gross value" for purposes of calculating Equinor's severance tax in the 2018 and 2019 tax years. OTA also correctly found that Equinor is not entitled to the fifteen percent safe harbor as Equinor previously received a deduction for actual transportation and transmission expenses and cannot receive both deductions under the rule. Each of Equinor's assignments of error should be rejected, and OTA's decision on appeal should be upheld.

 OTA's decision correctly determined that the product value reflected on the settlement statements is Stat Oil's gross value.

Equinor's first, second, and third assignments of error should be rejected because OTA correctly determined that the "product value" listed on the settlement sheets provided by

MarkWest, which included post-production processing fees, accurately reflects Equinor's gross value for the purpose of calculating Equinor's refund for severance tax. Equinor's first three assignments of error fail for the following reasons. First, the "product value" is the price of the gas when it is sold at the market. Second, the definition of the term "gross value" clearly contemplates that post production processing fees are intended to be included and incurred up until the point the product is marketable. Finally, Equinor has presented no evidence that a different number should be used for the product value and therefore has not met its burden. For these reasons more specifically argued below, OTA's decision should be upheld.

A. The price of Stat Oil's product was determined once the product was commercially sold.

Equinor argues that OTA erred when it concluded that the "product vale" listed on the settlement sheets received from MarkWest was the market value of its severed gas. Instead, it claims that OTA should have used the "net value" on these sheets to calculate its gross value from sales. Pet. Br. 22-ICA-226, at 1. But the relevant statutes clearly say otherwise. Every person engaging in the process of "severing natural gas or oil for sale, profit or commercial use" for natural resources is subject to a severance tax. W. Va. Code §11-13A-3A(a). This tax imposed is "five percent of the gross value of the natural gas or oil produced by the producer as shown by the gross proceeds derived from the sale thereof by the producer." *Id.* § 11-13A-3A(b). "[G]ross value" is defined as "the market value of the natural resource product, in the immediate vicinity where severed." *Id.* § 11-13A-2(c)(6). But critically, the determination of gross value must be made "after application of post production processing generally applied by the industry to obtain commercially marketable or usable natural resource products." *Id.* § 11-13A-2(c)(6).

The statute gives four methods for calculating "gross value." *Id.* § 11-13A-2(c)(6)(A)-(D). One method, is to take "the gross proceeds received or receivable by the taxpayer." *Id.* §11-13A-2(c)(6)(A). "[G]ross proceeds," in turn, is defined as the "value, whether in money or other property, actually proceeding from the sale or lease of tangible personal property or from the rendering of services, without any deduction for the cost of property sold or leased or expenses of any kind." W. Va. Code §11-13A-2(b)(5). A simple application of the plain language of these terms combined with their intended use in the statute clearly shows that the product value is the correct number to use when determining Equinor's gross value.

The definition of "gross proceeds" under West Virginia Code §11-13A-2(c)(6) is clearly an all-encompassing term: it includes more than money from the sale of Equinor's gas. In this instance, it is important to look towards the rule of statutory interpretation. In deciding the meaning of a statutory provision, the Court should look towards the text of the statute to determine if "given its plain meaning, answers the interpretive question, the language must prevail and further inquiry is foreclosed." *Appalachian Power Co. v. State Tax Dep't*, 195 W. Va. 573, 587, 466 S.E.2d 424, 438 (1995); *See also*, Syl. pt. 2, *Crockett b. Andrews*, 153 W. Va. 714, 172 S.E.2d 384 (1970) ("[w]here the language of a statute is free from ambiguity, its plain meaning is to be accepted and applied without resort to interpretation.")

Importantly, when a statutory provision is "clear and unambiguous and plainly expresses the legislative intent will not be interpreted by the courts but will be given full force and effect." Syl. pt. 2, State v. Epperly, 135 W. Va. 877, 65 S.E.2d 488 (1951). In applying the plain language of a statutory provision, "[g]enerally the words of a statute are to be given their ordinary and familiar significance and meaning, and regard is to be had for their general and proper use." Syl.

pt. 4, State v. Gen. Daniel Morgan Post No. 548, Veterans of Foreign Wars, 144 W. Va. 137, 107 S.E.2d 353 (1959).

The basis of the tax is the "market value" of the resource, not the amount received by the producer in any transaction. Accordingly, the following rules apply when determining the gross value:

- (A) For natural resources severed or processed (or both severed and processed) and sold during a reporting period, gross value is the gross proceeds received or receivable by the taxpayer.
- (B) In a transaction involving related parties, gross value shall not be less than the fair market value for natural resources of similar grade and quality.
- (C) In the absence of a sale, gross value shall be the fair market value for natural resources of similar grade and quality.
- (D) If severed natural resources are purchased for the purpose of processing and resale, the gross value is the amount received or receivable during the reporting period reduced by the amount paid or payable to the taxpayer actually severing the natural resource. If natural resources are severed outside the State of West Virginia and brought into the State of West Virginia by the taxpayer for the purpose of processing and sale, the gross value is the amount received or receivable during the reporting period reduced by the fair market value of natural resources of similar grade and quality and in the same condition immediately preceding the processing of the natural resources in this state.

W. Va. Code § 11-13A-2(c)(6)(A)-(D). The statute which governs the severance tax to be paid by Equinor clearly points to the product value being the correct number to be used to determine Equinor's gross value.

Equinor argues that it was OTA that moved the determination of the value of the natural gas, geographically, away from the point where the product is severed. Petr. Br. 22-ICA-226, at 15, and so has incorrectly determined the value of its gas. But Equinor has not provided a price for the gas when it was severed or transferred to MarkWest. Instead, even under its preferred calculation, the product value is the starting point. That value reflects the first time that any money

is placed on the gas and determined when it is sold commercially at the market. Under the applicable definitions, this price is the "gross value" of the gas.

For this analysis, the "gross value" of natural gas is the "value of the natural gas at the well head immediately preceding transportation and transmission. W. Va. Code R. § 110-13A-2a.10.1. Further guidance as to the gross value of the product at question can be in the legislative rule that mirrors West Virginia Code, but also clarifies that the value of natural resource products produced shall be determined by the "gross proceeds of sales in every instance in which a bona fide sale of such products is made *at the point where production ends*, and whether sold at wholesale or retail. W. Va. Code R. § 110-13A-2.7. To apply the totality of this guidance simply, the gross value is the value of the product at the well head continuing until the point where production ends, before transportation and transmission costs but including post production processing fees. The only difference between the product value and the net value is the disputed fees, which cannot be backed out prior to determining the gross value of the product.

The example given to illustrate the definition provided above, which is also referenced by Equinor, is when "[t]he entire output of natural gas from A's well is purchased at the well head and by a public utility for \$25,000. On his severance tax return, A will report \$25,000 as gross income." W. Va. Code R. §110-13A-2a.10.1. However, this is clearly not the transaction that occurred in this case. Equinor has provided no evidence to suggest that there should have been a different determination of price other than the number reflected in both the product value and the net value, excluding the disputed fees. Because the Equinor has provided no such evidence, the Tax Commissioner and OTA used the information available to them at the time which is illustrated in the NGL Agreement between Equinor and MarkWest.

The NGL Agreement states that the value of the product is reflected in the "average sales price" based on the "weighted average sales price per gallon received by MarkWest for each individual Fractioned Product sold during the calendar month." [22-ICA-226, D.R. at 162, ¶ 5(C)(i)-(ii). Equinor attempts to use this as evidence that the product value on the settlement sheet represents an inflated price for product which includes more value than the "raw" materials sold to MarkWest and not the value of the product in its raw form at the time of the transfer. However, nothing in the Agreement specifically says that this number represents the product value versus the net value. In fact, the Agreement does not specifically state whether the gross value shall be determined by the product value or the net value. Instead, Equinor attempts to stretch the agreement further than it allows.

While Equinor argues extensively that the NGL Agreement explains Equinor's compensation of natural gas and purports to explain what the terms at issue mean, the Agreement does not state that the product value is not to be used to calculate the gross value for severance tax purposes. Because the statutory provision is clear and unambiguous, the plain language indicates that the "value" of the product sold was intended by the Legislature to included more than simply money for the product, but other value, such as the fees from the settlement statement fees. Therefore, OTA properly held that the product value found on the settlement statements constitutes Equinor's gross value which is used to calculate Equinor's severance tax.

B. Under W. Va. Code §11-13A-2 gross value includes post production processing fees incurred until the product is marketable.

Equinor also argues that OTA's decision impermissibly moves the determination of the value of the product away from the well head. It says that the product value found on the settlement statements represents a weighted version of the product. While OTA correctly determined that the

product value represents the value of the product when it becomes marketable, Equinor's argument also fails simply by looking at the text of the definition of "gross value."

For reference, the definition of "gross value" also included "the market value of the natural resource product, in the immediate vicinity where severed, determined after application of post production processing generally applied by the industry to obtain commercially marketable or usable natural resource products." W. Va. Code § 11-13A-2(b)(6) (emphasis added). While it is clear that post production processing fees incurred are to be included in the gross value until the product is marketable, the statute makes clear that the processing shall not include any "conversion or refining process." W. Va. Code § 11-13A-2(c)(9)(A). These definitions indicate that regardless of the value of the product, the post production processing (other than conversion and refinement) are is to be included in the determination of the gross value. These post production processing fees are to be factored in until the time that the product "becomes marketable."

At the time of the transfer of the product from the Equinor to MarkWest, there was no money exchanged, only an Agreement in place stating MarkWest would process the product and get it to the point of being marketable. The price of the product is then determined once the product is marketable and monthly payments are made to StatOil based upon the price of the product as it is commercially sold. Equinor continuously states that the NGL Agreement stated MarkWest would undertake any third party fees. Petr. Br. 22-ICA-226, at 16. However, according to the code section above, the fees at issue before this Court would not be considered third party fees. Rather, they would be considered the post production processing fees that the definition of "gross value" mandates be included in the calculation of gross value. See W. Va. Code § 11-13A-2(b)(6). MarkWest acts only as a company contracted to step in to get the product to the point where it is marketable, then Equinor

would have had to do that itself or find another company to process the product. Either way, the statute makes clear that the post production processing fees are to be included in the gross value up until the gas is marketable.

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